
 

 

 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO 

EASTERN DIVISION 

 

MARQUETTA WILLIAMS,       ) Case No.: ________________________  

Individually and as         ) 

Administratrix of the Estate of       ) 

JAMES WILLIAMS, Deceased,      ) Judge:             ________________________ 

2307 10th St., S.W.        ) 

Canton, Ohio 44706,         ) 

          ) 

&        )  

          ) 

J.W.1., Individually, A Minor, by and      ) COMPLAINT WITH JURY DEMAND 

Through Her Natural Mother and       )    

Legal Guardian Marquetta Williams,      ) 

          ) 

  &        ) 

          ) 

P.W., Individually, A Minor, by and      ) 

Through her Natural Mother and       ) 

Legal Guardian Marquetta Williams,     ) 

          ) 

  &        ) 

          ) 

J.W.2., Individually, A Minor, by and      ) 

Through Her Natural Mother and       ) 

Legal Guardian Marquetta Williams,      ) 

           ) 

Plaintiffs,      )  

          ) 

  -vs.-        )       

          )   

THE CITY OF CANTON,              )        

218 Cleveland Avenue, S.W.      )        

P.O. Box 24218        )  

Canton, Ohio 44701,                      )        

          ) 

  &        )       

          ) 

ROBERT A. HUBER,       )   

c/o Canton Police Department      ) 

221 3rd Street, S.W.        ) 

Canton, Ohio 44702,        ) 
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  &        )     

                                                                            ) 

JOHN DOES 1-10, JANE DOES 1-10,     ) 

DOE PARTNERSHIPS 1-10, DOE      ) 

CORPORATIONS 1-10, DOE      ) 

GOVERNMENTAL AGENCIES 1-10 and   ) 

DOE ENTITIES 2-10,       ) 

          ) 

   Defendants.      ) 

          ) 

 

 Now come, Marquetta Williams, individually and as Administratrix of the Estate of James 

Williams, Deceased, as well as minor children, J.W.1., P.W, and J.W.2., through their natural 

mother and legal guardian, Marquetta Williams, Plaintiffs herein, by and through her attorneys, 

Robert C. Meeker, Colin G. Meeker, Blaise R. Meeker, and Ben T. Manayan, Jr. of Blakemore, 

Meeker & Bowler Co., L.P.A., and hereby complain against the City of Canton (“Canton”), Robert 

A. Huber (“Officer Huber”), individually and in his capacity as a Canton police officer, John Does 

1-10, Jane Does 1-10, Doe Partnerships 1-10, Doe Corporations 1-10, Doe Governmental 

Agencies 1-10 And Doe Entities 1-10, names unknown, collectively as Defendants herein, as 

follows: 

A. INTRODUCTION 

1. This action arises out of the horrifying and heartbreaking fatal shooting of James 

Williams (“Mr. Williams”) on January 1, 2022, at his home in Canton, Ohio. 

2.         Mr. Williams left behind a large, close-knit, and loving family—a wife of 10 years, 

six children, and many other cherished loved ones. His death devastated his entire family as well 

as the Canton community.  
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James & Marquetta Williams with their family 

 

3. Plaintiff seeks damages, pursuant to Title 42, Section 1983 and Ohio law, for 

deprivation of Mr. Williams’ clearly established rights as secured by the Fourth and Fourteenth 

Amendments to the United States Constitution against: (1) Canton for its unconstitutional policies, 
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customs and/or practices under Monell v. Department of Social Services of City of New York, 436 

U.S. 658 (1978), and its progeny, and (2) Officer Huber, individually and in his respective capacity 

as a Canton Police Officer, for his respective violations of Williams’ right to be free from the use 

of excessive force. 

B. PARTIES 

4. During all relevant times herein, Plaintiff Marquetta Williams, was, and is, a 

resident of the City of Canton, Stark County, Ohio, whose address is 2307 10th Street., S.W., 

Canton, Ohio 44706.  

5.  Marquetta Williams, was appointed by the Stark County Probate Court on February 

10, 2022 as the Administratrix for the Estate of James Williams; Mrs. Williams, individually, 

brings the instant action against Defendants as well. 

6.         Mr. Williams’s heirs include his wife, Marquetta Williams, their three children, 

Plaintiffs J.W.1. (born 2009), P.W. (born 2010), and J.W.2. (born 2012), as well as minor, J.W.3., 

Mr. Williams’ daughter, by and through her natural mother and legal guardian, Bahja Austin.  

7.  During all relevant times herein, Plaintiffs J.W.1., P.W., and J.W.2., were, and are, 

minors and residents of the City of Canton, Stark County, Ohio, who are in the care of their mother 

and legal guardian, Marquetta Williams, and residing at 2307 10th Street., S.W., Canton, Ohio 

44706.  

8.         During all relevant times herein, Defendant City of Canton was and is a political 

subdivision in Stark County, Ohio, whose address is 218 Cleveland Avenue, S.W., P.O. Box 

24218, Canton, Ohio 44701. 

9.  Upon information and belief, Defendant Robert A. Huber, was and is a resident of 
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Stark County, Ohio, whose address is, in the care of the Canton Police Department (CPD) of the 

City of Canton, 221 3rd Street, S.W., Canton, Ohio 44702. 

10.  During all relevant times herein, Defendant Does were, and are, individuals, persons, 

corporations, partnerships, governmental agencies and entities whose names, identities, capacities, 

activities and/or responsibilities are presently unknown to Plaintiff(s), or his/her/its/their attorney(s), 

and could not discover said names who in some manner may be liable to Plaintiff(s), contractually, 

vicariously, tortiously, jointly and/or severally. Plaintiff(s) will be obtaining updated reports, as to 

identity, liability, existence of additional claims and/or causes of action or otherwise, in connection 

with or in addition to the claim or claims herein. Plaintiff(s) reserve(s) the right to plead Defendant 

Does as party defendant(s) and/or plead additional claim(s) to this action once their identities, 

capacities, activities, liabilities and claims or causes of action become known. 

C. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

11.  This Court has jurisdiction over federal questions pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§1331 

and 1343 and 42 U.S.C. §§1983 and 1988. 

12.   This Court has supplemental jurisdiction of the state claims presented pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. 1367 because the state court claims are so related to claims in this action of which this 

Court has original jurisdiction that they form part of the same case or controversy under Article III 

of the United States Constitution. 

13.  Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. §1391(b) because all incidents, 

events and occurrences giving rise to this action occurred in the Northern District of Ohio and, 

upon information and belief, all of the parties reside in this Judicial District. 
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D.  STATEMENT OF FACTS 

I. The January 1, 2022 Shooting Death of James Williams 

 

14.   On January 1, 2022, James Williams was 46 years old.  

15.       Mr. Williams lived with his wife, Marquetta Williams, and their three children, 

J.W.1., P.W., and J.W.2., in the City of Canton. 

16.  On January 1, 2022, Mr. Williams was celebrating New Years at his residence, 

located at 2307 10th St., S.W., Canton, Ohio 44706, with his family and friends. 

17.  Mr. Williams’ celebration included discharging a firearm into the air from his patio, 

which is enclosed by a wooden privacy fence, just less than six feet in height. 

18.  Upon information and belief, throughout the evening, other residents within Mr. 

Williams’ neighborhood discharged firearms into the air as part of their New Year’s celebration. 

19.  Upon information and belief, as a result of individuals discharging firearms within 

Mr. Williams’ neighborhood, a call to the Canton Police Department (“CPD”) was made. 
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20.       During all relevant times herein, Canton maintained and operated the CPD.  

21.  Upon information and belief, Officer Huber, an employee and/or agent of CPD, 

was then dispatched to Mr. Williams’ neighborhood. 

22.  After arrival and while in or standing near his police cruiser, Officer Huber 

performed a cursory inspection of the exterior of Mr. Williams’ home; he identified Williams’ 

residence to CPD dispatch, stating, “Correction it’s going to be the 2300 block of 10th Street, 2307 

10th Street S.W.” 

23.  Officer Huber then exited his cruiser and stood in the street on the East side of Mr. 

Williams’ residence; he informed CPD dispatch that, “I saw the male’s head through the fence, 

and after I heard the shots, I got out of my cruiser and went up to the porch and saw him putting 

the rifle away.” 

24. Having heard these initial shots fired from Mr. Williams’ residence, Officer Huber 

did not initiate his police cruiser’s emergency lights or siren to announce his presence; Huber also 

kept his cruiser’s headlights turned off to avoid detection.   

25.  Having heard these initial shots fired from Mr. Williams’ residence, Officer Huber 

did not verbally announce his presence when he went onto the porch at Williams’ residence. 

26.  While located on the East side of Mr. Williams’ residence, Officer Huber heard the 

discharge of a firearm, ran in front of the residence, around a vehicle parked on the street, to the 

West side of the residence, and faced the enclosed patio, where he saw a male’s head behind the 

fence and a weapon being discharged into the air in a Westerly direction. 

27.  After reaching the West side of Mr. Williams’ residence, near the enclosed patio, 

without announcing his presence and identity, without any warning or command to cease and 
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desist, without any attempt at de-escalation, or without calling CPD dispatch for backup, Officer 

Huber willfully and indiscriminately discharged his service firearm multiple times into the wooden 

fence at Mr. Williams, striking him in the chest. 

28.  After shooting Mr. Williams, Officer Huber announced his presence, “Shots fired, 

shots fired,” and, “Police! Get down now! Police! Get down now!”  

29.       After shooting Mr. Williams, Officer Huber retreated to his cruiser and informed 

CPD dispatch, “CanCom, Shots fired, send us everybody.” 

30.  Prior to shooting Mr. Williams, Officer Huber saw, or should have seen, that 

Williams was discharging his weapon into the air in a Westerly direction, as seen on Huber’s body 

camera. See Fox News, Bodycam footage of police shooting of James Williams, 

https://video.foxnews.com/v/6290180915001#sp=show-clips.  

31.  While Mr. Williams was being struck by gunshots from Officer Huber’s firearm, 

Williams’ wife, Marquetta Williams, was approximately two feet from Williams and holding open 

a glass door from the house to the patio. 

32.       As Officer Huber’s shots were fired, Mrs. Williams witnessed her husband being 

shot; upon information and belief, the glass door that Mrs. Williams was holding shattered as a 

result of Huber shooting at Mr. Williams.  

33.  Upon being shot by Officer Huber, Mr. Williams, who was bleeding profusely, 

struggled to re-enter his house, then collapsed on the living room floor in front of his children, 

J.W.1., P.W., and J.W.2. 

34.  While entering Mr. Williams’ residence to search for and arrest him, Officer Huber 

and other responding CPD officers failed to provide any medical attention or assistance to 
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Williams as he laid on the floor conscious and struggling. 

35.  Mr. Williams died from gunshot wounds on his living room floor soon thereafter.  

36.  At all relevant times herein, Officer Huber was acting under color of state law, as 

an agent of Ohio, and within the scope of his duties as a law enforcement officer of the City of 

Canton. 

37.  At all relevant times herein, Officer Huber acted unreasonably, negligently, 

recklessly, wantonly, willfully, knowingly, intentionally, and with deliberate indifference to the 

safety and rights of Mr. Williams, when he used deadly force against Williams and failed to secure 

timely medical assistance or to perform resuscitative measures on Williams following the shooting. 

II. Canton’s policies, customs and practices caused the death of James Williams 

38.  Canton’s policies, patterns, practices, customs and usages regarding the use of 

deadly force against citizens, was the moving force that proximately caused Williams’ suffering 

and death. 

39.  Those policies, patters, practices, customs and usages include, but are not limited 

to: 

A. Canton failed to adequately train, direct, monitor, supervise or control  

Officer Huber regarding the use of force, and that failure to train, direct, 

monitor, supervise or control Huber was the contributing factor behind 

Huber’s use of force that proximately caused William’s suffering and death. 

 

B. Canton recklessly, wantonly, and/or intentionally did not train Officer 

Huber or Does # 1-10 to provide first aid or any other medical care or 

assistance to injured people, and/or trains CPD officer not to provide first 

aid or any other medical care or assistance to injured people.  

 

40.  The violation of Mr. Williams’ Fourth and Fourteenth Amendment rights by 

Officer Huber, under color of state law, was in accordance with the policies, patterns, practices 
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and customs of the CPD and City of Canton.  

41. As a direct and proximate result of the conduct of Canton and Officer Huber, 

including the use of force and failure to provide any medical care, Mr. Williams suffered physical 

injury, pain, torture, emotional and psychological trauma, and ultimately death. 

42.  As a further direct and proximate result of the conduct of Canton and Officer Huber, 

Marquetta Williams, J.W.1., P.W., and J.W.2., suffered terror and fear, due to her being within a 

few feet of their loved one dying in a pool of blood on their living room floor.  

43.  Finally, as a direct and proximate result of Mr. Williams’ wrongful death, Williams’ 

survivors, next of kin and/or heirs have suffered permanent damages, including but not limited to 

conscious pain and suffering, loss of earnings and net accumulations, compensatory damages, 

punitive damages, medical and funeral expenses, loss of aid, counsel, guidance, advice, assistance, 

protection and support, and any and all other relief that as this Court may deem appropriate, in an 

amount to be determined by jury.          

E.  CAUSES OF ACTION 

 

COUNT I 

BY MARQUETTA WILLIAMS,  

AS ADMINISTRATOR FOR THE ESTATE OF JAMES WILLIAMS 

EXCESSIVE FORCE IN VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. §1983 AMENDMENTS IV AND XIV 

-AGAINST DEFENDANT HUBER- 

 

44.  Plaintiffs repeat(s) and re-aver(s) the allegations contained in the preceding 

paragraphs, as appropriate, as if fully set forth herein. 

45.       By reason of the foregoing, using excessive force and killing Mr. Williams, 

Officer Huber deprived Williams of the rights, remedies, privileges, and immunities guaranteed 

to every citizen of the United States, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, including, but not limited 
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to, rights guaranteed by the Fourth (the right to be secure against unreasonable searches and 

seizures) and Fourteenth Amendments (each citizen has the right to life and liberty) of the United 

States Constitution to be free from gratuitous and excessive force. Huber’s conduct manifested 

deliberate indifference to Williams’ constitutional rights.   

46.  Officer Huber acted under pretense and color of state law and in his individual  

and official capacity and within the scope of his respective employment as a CPD officer. 

Huber’s acts were beyond the scope of his jurisdiction, without authority of law, and in abuse of 

his powers. Huber acted willfully, knowingly, and with the specific intent to deprive Mr. 

Williams of his constitutional rights, secured by 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and the Fourth and Fourteenth 

Amendments to the United States Constitution. 

47.       As a direct and proximate result of the misconduct and abuse of authority detailed  

above, Mr. Williams and Plaintiffs sustained damages as stated herein.   

COUNT II 

BY MARQUETTA WILLIAMS,  

AS ADMINISTRATOR FOR THE ESTATE OF JAMES WILLIAMS 

EXCESSIVE FORCE IN VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. §1983 AMENDMENTS IV AND XIV 

-AGAINST DEFENDANT CITY OF CANTON- 

 

48.  Plaintiffs repeat(s) and re-aver(s) the allegations contained in the preceding 

paragraphs, as appropriate, as if fully set forth herein. 

49.        Canton, through CPD, and acting under the pretense and color of law, 

permitted, tolerated, and was deliberately indifferent to a pattern and practice of excessive force 

by CPD officers at the time of Mr. Williams’ killing. This widespread tolerance of excessive 

force by police officers constituted a municipal policy, practice, or custom and led to Williams’ 

shooting and death. 
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50.        By permitting, tolerating, and sanctioning a persistent and widespread policy, 

practice and custom of excessive force under which Mr. Williams was killed, Canton deprived 

Williams of rights, remedies, privileges and immunities guaranteed to every citizen of the United 

States, secured by 42 U.S.C. § 1983, including, but not limited to, the right to be free from 

gratuitous and excessive force guaranteed by the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the 

United States Constitution. 

51.          As a direct and proximate result of the policy, practice, and custom detailed 

above, Williams and Plaintiffs sustained damages as stated herein. 

COUNT III 

BY MARQUETTA WILLIAMS,  

AS ADMINISTRATOR FOR THE ESTATE OF JAMES WILLIAMS 

OHIO REV. CODE § 2125 WRONGFUL DEATH 

 -AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS- 

 

52.       Plaintiffs repeat(s) and re-aver(s) the allegations contained in the preceding 

paragraphs, as appropriate, as if fully set forth herein.        

53.       As a direct and proximate result of the reckless, wanton, and/or intentional 

conduct of Canton, CPD, and Officer Huber, as well as their employees as described herein, Mr. 

Williams suffered conscious pain and suffering until the moment of his death. 

54.       As a direct and proximate result of Mr. Williams’ death, his beneficiaries 

suffered, and will continue to suffer, damages for the loss over his life expectancy, including loss 

of companionship, consortium, care, assistance, attention, protection, advice, guidance, counsel, 

instruction, training, and education. 

55.      As a direct and proximate result of the reckless, wanton, and/or intentional 

conduct of Canton, CPD, and Officer Huber, as well as their employees as described herein, Mr. 
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Williams’  beneficiaries have suffered mental anguish and severe emotional distress and have 

been deprived of his love, support, services, care, companionship, advice, guidance, counsel, 

instruction, and society, and prospective inheritance, and have sustained potentially other 

damages as recognized under Ohio Rev. Code § 2125.02(B) and other provisions of law. These 

losses are expected to be permanent and ongoing. 

56.     Plaintiff Marquetta Williams brings this claim in her capacity as administrator of  

the Estate of James Williams, for the beneficiaries of James Williams. 

57.     As a direct and proximate result of the misconduct and abuse of authority detailed 

above, James Williams and Plaintiffs sustained damages as alleged herein. 

COUNT IV 

BY MARQUETTA WILLIAMS,  

AS ADMINISTRATOR FOR THE ESTATE OF JAMES WILLIAMS 

SURVIVORSHIP 

 -AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS- 

 

58.     Plaintiffs repeat(s) and re-aver(s) the allegations contained in the preceding 

paragraphs, as appropriate, as if fully set forth herein.      

59.     As a direct and proximate result of the reckless, wanton, and/or intentional conduct 

of Canton, CPD, and Officer Huber, as well as their employees as described herein, Mr. 

Williams was caused to suffer severe fright, pain, suffering, and mental anguish from the 

moment he was shot until the moment he lost consciousness, including knowledge of his injury 

and impending death. 

60.     As a direct and proximate result of the reckless, wanton, and/or intentional 
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conduct of Canton, CPD, and Officer Huber, as well as their employees as described herein, 

Marquetta Williams and the Estate of James Williams incurred funeral and cremation expenses 

and other expenses. 

61.     As a direct and proximate result of the misconduct and abuse of authority detailed 

above, Williams and Plaintiffs sustained damages as alleged herein. 

COUNT V 

BY MARQUETTA WILLIAMS,  

AS ADMINISTRATOR FOR THE ESTATE OF JAMES WILLIAMS 

42 U.S.C. §1983 AMENDMENTS IV AND XIV 

DELIBERATE INDIFFERENCE TO MEDICAL NEED 

 -AGAINST DEFENDANTS HUBER AND JOHN/JANE DOES # 1-10- 

 

62.     Plaintiffs repeat(s) and re-aver(s) the allegations contained in the preceding 

paragraphs, as appropriate, as if fully set forth herein.           

63.     As alleged above, by denying and/or failing to provide medical care or assistance 

to Mr. Williams, Officer Huber and John/Jane Does # 1-10 deprived Williams of the rights, 

remedies, privileges, and immunities guaranteed to every citizen of the United States, in 

violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, including, but not limited to, rights guaranteed by the Fourth and 

Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution to be free from deliberate indifference 

to medical needs. 

64.     Officer Huber and John/Jane Does # 1-10 acted under pretense and color of state 

law and in their individual and official capacities and within the scope of their respective 

employment as CPD officers. Said acts by Huber and John/Jane Does # 1-10 were beyond the 

scope of their jurisdiction, without authority of law, and in abuse of their powers. Huber and 

John/Jane Does # 1-10 acted willfully, knowingly, and with the specific intent to deprive Mr. 
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Williams of his constitutional rights, secured by 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and the Fourth and Fourteenth 

Amendments of the United States Constitution. 

65.     As a direct and proximate result of the misconduct and abuse of authority detailed 

above, Williams and Plaintiffs sustained damages as alleged herein. 

COUNT VI 

BY MARQUETTA WILLIAMS,  

AS ADMINISTRATOR FOR THE ESTATE OF JAMES WILLIAMS 

42 U.S.C. §1983 AMENDMENTS IV AND XIV 

DELIBERATE INDIFFERENCE TO MEDICAL NEED 

 -AGAINST DEFENDANT CITY OF CANTON- 

 

66.     Plaintiffs repeat(s) and re-aver(s) the allegations contained in the preceding 

paragraphs, as appropriate, as if fully set forth herein.      

67.     Canton, through the CPD, and acting under the pretense and color of law, created, 

permitted, tolerated, and was deliberately indifferent to a pattern and practice of deliberate 

indifference to medical needs by CPD officers at the time of Mr. Williams’ killing, including by 

not training CPD officers to provide first aid or any other medical assistance. 

68.     This widespread denial of medical care by police officers constituted a municipal 

policy, practice, or custom and led to Mr. Williams’ death. 

69.     By permitting, tolerating, and sanctioning a persistent and widespread policy, 

practice and custom under which Mr. Williams was killed, Canton deprived Williams of the 

rights, remedies, privileges, and immunities guaranteed to every citizen of the United States, 

secured by 42 U.S.C. § 1983, including, but not limited to, the right to be free from deliberate 

indifference to medical needs guaranteed by the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the 

United States Constitution. 
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70.     As a direct and proximate result of the misconduct and abuse of authority detailed 

above, Mr. Williams and Plaintiffs sustained damages as alleged herein. 

COUNT VII 

BY MARQUETTA WILLIAMS,  

AS ADMINISTRATOR FOR THE ESTATE OF JAMES WILLIAMS 

ASSAULT AND BATTERY OF JAMES WILLIAMS 

 -AGAINST DEFENDANTS HUBER AND CITY OF CANTON- 

 

71.     Plaintiffs repeat(s) and re-aver(s) the allegations contained in the preceding 

paragraphs, as appropriate, as if fully set forth herein.  

72.     In physically assaulting, shooting, and killing Mr. Williams, Officer Huber, acting 

in his capacity as a police officer, and within the scope of his employment, committed willful, 

unlawful, unwarranted, and intentional assault and battery upon Williams. 

73.     The assault and battery by Officer Huber was unnecessary and unwarranted in the 

performance of his duties and constituted an unreasonable and excessive use of force. 

74.     Canton, as the employer of Officer Huber, is responsible for his wrongdoing under 

the doctrine of respondeat superior. 

75.     As a direct and proximate result of the misconduct and abuse of authority detailed 

above, Mr. Williams and Plaintiffs sustained damages as alleged herein. 

COUNT VIII 

BY MARQUETTA WILLIAMS, INDIVIDUALLY 

42 U.S.C. §1983 AMENDMENTS IV AND XIV EXCESSIVE FORCE 

 -AGAINST DEFENDANT HUBER- 

 

76.     Plaintiffs repeat(s) and re-aver(s) the allegations contained in the preceding 

paragraphs, as appropriate, as if fully set forth herein. 

77.    By reason of the foregoing, using excessive force and assaulting Marquetta 
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Williams, Officer Huber deprived Mrs. Williams of the rights, remedies, privileges, and 

immunities guaranteed to every citizen of the United States, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, 

including, but not limited to, rights guaranteed by the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments of the 

United States Constitution to be free from gratuitous and excessive force. Huber’s conduct 

manifested deliberate indifference to Mrs. Williams’ constitutional rights. 

78.     Officer Huber acted under pretense and color of state law and in his individual and 

official capacity and within the scope of his respective employment as a CPD officer. These acts 

by Huber were beyond the scope of his jurisdiction, without authority of law, and in abuse of his 

powers. Huber acted willfully, knowingly, and with the specific intent to deprive Mrs. Williams 

of her constitutional rights, secured by 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and the Fourth and Fourteenth 

Amendments of the United States Constitution. 

79.     As a direct and proximate result of the misconduct and abuse of authority detailed 

above, Mrs. Williams sustained damages as alleged herein. 

COUNT IX 

BY MARQUETTA WILLIAMS, INDIVIDUALLY 

ASSAULT AND BATTERY 

-AGAINST DEFENDANTS HUBER AND CITY OF CANTON- 

80.     Plaintiffs repeat(s) and re-aver(s) the allegations contained in the preceding 

paragraphs, as appropriate, as if fully set forth herein. 

81.     In physically assaulting Mrs. Williams, Officer Huber, acting in his capacity as a 

police officer, and within the scope of his employment, committed a willful, unlawful, 

unwarranted, and intentional assault and battery upon Mrs. Williams. 

82.     The assault and battery by Officer Huber was unnecessary and unwarranted in the 
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performance of his duties and constituted an unreasonable and excessive use of force. 

83.     Canton, as employer of Officer Huber, is responsible for his wrongdoing under the 

doctrine of respondeat superior. 

84.     As a direct and proximate result of the misconduct and abuse of authority detailed 

above, Mrs. Williams sustained damages as alleged herein. 

COUNT IX 

BY MARQUETTA WILLIAMS, INDIVIDUALLY,  

AND ON BEHALF OF J.W., P.W., AND J.W., MINORS 

INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS 

-AGAINST DEFENDANTS HUBER, JOHN/JANE DOES # 1-10, AND CITY OF 

CANTON- 

 

85.     Plaintiffs repeat(s) and re-aver(s) the allegations contained in the preceding 

paragraphs, as appropriate, as if fully set forth herein. 

86.     In physically assaulting Mrs. Williams, and in shooting Mr. Williams before their 

own eyes, which forced Mrs. Williams, along with J.W.1., P.W., and J.W.2., to watch Mr. 

Williams bleed out in the family’s home, Officer Huber and John/Jane Does # 1-10, acting in 

their capacity as police officers, and within the scope of their employment, intended to cause 

emotional distress to Mrs. Williams and J.W.1., P.W., and J.W.2., or knew or should have known 

that their actions would cause Mrs. Williams and her children serious emotional distress. 

87.     Officer Huber and John/Jane Does # 1-10’s conduct was extreme and outrageous. 

88.     Officer Huber and John/Jane Does # 1-10’s conduct was the proximate cause of 

Mrs. Williams, J.W.1., P.W., and J.W.2.’s emotional injury. 

89.     As a result of Officer Huber and John/Jane Does # 1-10’s conduct, Mrs. Williams, 

J.W.1., P.W., and J.W.2. suffered serious emotional anguish. 
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90.     Canton, as employer of Officer Huber and John/Jane Does # 1-10, is responsible 

for their wrongdoing under the doctrine of respondeat superior. 

91.     As a direct and proximate result of the misconduct and abuse of authority detailed 

above, Mrs. Williams, J.W.1., P.W., and J.W.2. sustained damages as alleged herein. 

COUNT X 

BY MARQUETTA WILLIAMS, INDIVIDUALLY 

AND ON BEHALF OF J.W., P.W., AND J.W., MINORS 

RECKLESS AND/OR NEGLIGENT INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS 

-AGAINST DEFENDANTS HUBER, JOHN/JANE DOES # 1-10, AND CITY OF 

CANTON- 

 

92.     Plaintiffs repeat(s) and re-aver(s) the allegations contained in the preceding 

paragraphs, as appropriate, as if fully set forth herein.      

93.     In physically assaulting Mrs. Williams, and in shooting Mr. Williams before her 

own eyes, which also forced her, J.W.1., P.W., and J.W.2., to watch Mr. Williams bleed out in 

the family’s home, Officer Huber and John/Jane Does # 1-10, acting in their capacity as police 

officers, and within the scope of their employment, consciously disregarded or was indifferent 

to a known or obvious risk of harm to Mrs. Williams and her children that was unreasonable 

under the circumstances. 

94.     Officer Huber and John/Jane Does # 1-10 knew or should have known that their 

actions would cause Mrs. Williams, J.W.1., P.W., and J.W.2. serious and reasonably foreseeable 

emotional distress. 

95.     Officer Huber and John/Jane Does # 1-10’s conduct was extreme and outrageous. 

96.     Officer Huber and John/Jane Does # 1-10’s conduct was the proximate cause of 

Mrs. Williams, J.W.1., P.W., and J.W.2.’s emotional injury. 
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97.     As a result of Officer Huber and John/Jane Does # 1-10’s conduct, Mrs. Williams, 

J.W.1., P.W., and J.W.2. suffered serious emotional anguish. 

98.     Canton, as employer of Officer Huber and John/Jane Does # 1-10, is responsible 

for their wrongdoing under the doctrine of respondeat superior. 

99.     As a direct and proximate result of the misconduct and abuse of authority detailed 

above, Mrs. Williams, J.W.1., P.W., and J.W.2. sustained damages as alleged herein. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request the Court enter judgment against Defendants and grant 

the following relief: 

 A. Compensatory and special damages, for each cause of action against each 

defendant, in an amount to be determined at trial; 

 B. Punitive damages against the individual Defendants in an amount to be 

determined at trial; 

 C. An order awarding Plaintiffs’ reasonable attorneys’ fees, together with the costs 

of this action, under 42 U.S.C. § 1988, and as provided by law; 

 D. Pre and post judgment interest;  

 E. For the appointment of a receiver or similar authority to ensure that the City of 

Canton properly trains and supervises; and    

 F. Such other further relief as the Court may deem appropriate. 
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Dated: March 15, 2022 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

BLAKEMORE, MEEKER & BOWLER CO., L.P.A.   

 

 

 
Robert C. Meeker     Colin G. Meeker  

Robert C. Meeker (Ohio# 0013019)    Colin G. Meeker (Ohio# 0092980) 

495 Portage Lakes Drive    495 Portage Lakes Drive 

Akron, Ohio 44319     Akron, Ohio 44319 

Office: (330) 253-3337    Office: (330) 253-3337 

Fax: (330) 253-4131     Fax: (330) 253-4131 

rcmeeker@bmblaw.com    cgm@bmblaw.com 

 

 

 

 

 
Blaise R. Meeker     Ben T. Manayan, Jr. 
Blaise R. Meeker (Ohio# 0093050)    Ben T. Manayan, Jr. (Hawaii #5692) 

495 Portage Lakes Drive    495 Portage Lakes Drive 

Akron, Ohio 44319     Akron, Ohio 44319 

Office: (330) 253-3337    Office: (330) 253-3337 

Fax: (330) 253-4131     Fax: (330) 253-4131 

blaise@bmblaw.com     btmj@bmblaw.com 

 

 

      

Counsel for Plaintiffs, Marquetta Williams, Individually and as Administratrix of The Estate of 

James Williams, Minors J.W., P.W., and J.W., by and through their Natural Mother and Legal 

Guardian, Marquetta Williams, and Heir and Minor J.W., by and through her Natural Mother 

and Legal Guardian, Bahja Austin. 
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JURY DEMAND OF PLAINTIFFS 

 

 Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 38, Plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by jury  

 

in the above-captioned action of all issues triable by jury. 

 

 Dated: March 15, 2022 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

BLAKEMORE, MEEKER & BOWLER CO., L.P.A.   

 

 

 
Robert C. Meeker     Colin G. Meeker  

Robert C. Meeker (Ohio# 0013019)    Colin G. Meeker (Ohio# 0092980) 

495 Portage Lakes Drive    495 Portage Lakes Drive 

Akron, Ohio 44319     Akron, Ohio 44319 

Office: (330) 253-3337    Office: (330) 253-3337 

Fax: (330) 253-4131     Fax: (330) 253-4131 

rcmeeker@bmblaw.com    cgm@bmblaw.com 

 

 

 

 

 
Blaise R. Meeker     Ben T. Manayan, Jr. 
Blaise R. Meeker (Ohio# 0093050)    Ben T. Manayan, Jr. (Hawaii #5692) 

495 Portage Lakes Drive    495 Portage Lakes Drive 

Akron, Ohio 44319     Akron, Ohio 44319 

Office: (330) 253-3337    Office: (330) 253-3337 

Fax: (330) 253-4131     Fax: (330) 253-4131 

blaise@bmblaw.com     btmj@bmblaw.com 

 

 

      

Counsel for Plaintiffs, Marquetta Williams, Individually and as Administratrix of The Estate of 

James Williams, Minors J.W., P.W., and J.W., by and through their Natural Mother and Legal 

Guardian, Marquetta Williams, and Heir and Minor J.W., by and through her Natural Mother 

and Legal Guardian, Bahja Austin. 
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